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As the world’s natural resources deplete rapidly to meet rising consumption, there
arises the problem of preserving the biological wealth for our future generations.

At LHT, our vision is to enable those presently living to meet their own needs, without
jeopardising the ability of future generations to meet theirs. In this regard, LHT conducted
extensive research on developing reliable substitutes for solid timber and related
products. The fruit of our labour is “Greenflo”, a new technical wood flooring product
which we launched in 2001. It is LHT’s ambition to introduce “Greenflo” to the global
market and thus augment the green benefits of our wood waste recycling ventures.

Besides presenting LHT’s financial performance for FY2001, this Annual Report provides
an overview of our business activities and outlines the steps we have taken to protect
our environment. Most importantly, it illustrates our dedication to continue developing
while maintaining the sustainability of our common resources.

The company’s mission has always been to be
leader in the management of  total packaging
support to our customers in all aspects of their
supply chain across the regional operations with
our state-of-the-art technology, excellent services
and competitive pricing.

Our Mission

Growth on One Common Vision
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P R O F I L E

RECOGNISING THE NEED TO PROTECT THE ENVIRONMENT, LHT IS

THE FIRST COMPANY IN SINGAPORE TO PRODUCE WOOD PRODUCTS

BY RECYCLING WASTE WOOD INTO AN INNOVATIVE PRODUCT

LHT Holdings Limited has been in the timber industry for more than 20 years. Established in 1977, LHT has grown to

be one of the largest manufacturing companies of high quality wooden pallets, cases and crates in Singapore. Sited

on a 63,568 sq m land, the company has 197 employees involving in the areas of administration, manufacturing and

warehousing.

In 1997, LHT was awarded ISO 9002 certification on the quality management system on the manufacture, purchase

and supply of wooden pallets, cases and crates, and Technical Woods.

In 2001, LHT was further awarded ISO 14001 certification on its environment management system that indicates its

commitment towards environmental excellence. The Company was also awarded the Enterprise 50 Award in 1995

and 1996 respectively.  In 1998, we received the 27th International Trophy for Quality by the Trade Leader ‘s Club

based in Mardrid, Spain.

As part of its ongoing efforts to reduce waste and to protect the precious timber resources of the earth, LHT has

established the Singapore’s first waste wood  recycling plant, which equipped with highly automated system from

Germany to produce a series of Technical Wood products. With the advanced technology, the products have the

advantage of being consistent in colour, texture and high density. Wood cracks, mould and insect attacks are prevented

through strict process of treatment and drying. The products are therefore ideal for furniture, flooring, building

material and heavy-duty industrial usage.
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THROUGH CAREFUL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES AND

PRUDENT INVESTMENTS IN HI-TECH EQUIPMENT, LHT HAS TAKEN A VERY

POSITIVE STEP, SHOWING HOW AN INGENIOUS IDEA TODAY CAN GO LONG

WAY TOWARDS PROTECTING THE FUTURE HEALTH OF THE ENVIRONMENT.

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the Annual Report for the

financial year ended 31 December 2001.

REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE  The year in review was a difficult one for the Group.

In 2001, Singapore experienced the worst recession in recent years and registered

negative growth.  A depressed market coupled with intense competition within the

local pallet manufacturing industry caused the demand for the Group’s pallets to

decrease.  In addition, the sales of pallets to both local and export markets were affected

by keen competition from neighbouring countries, whose foreign exchange rates were

more favourable.  Meanwhile, sales of the newly launched flooring product were slow

as these new environmental-friendly products generally took a longer time to gain

customer’s acceptance.  Consequently, the flooring product had not contributed to the

Group’s revenue and profit as forecasted.  The performance of our associated company

was also affected by the depressed market and keen competition, thus its contribution

to the Group’s profit had reduced.

As a result, Group’s revenue declined 20.7% to $25.0 million from $31.6 million in

year 2000, and an Group operating loss before tax of $1.6 million was recorded, as

compared to an operating profit before tax of $1.3 million in year 2000.  Group’s

attributable loss was $1.7 million, as compared to an attributable profit of $0.8 million

in year 2000.  Other contributing factors to the losses were due to the increased factory

overheads after the acquisition of a new factory building and machinery for the flooring

product line in the second half of year 2000, as well as an increased provision for

obsolete stock.

In view of the poor results, the Board does not recommend any dividend for the financial

year ended 31 December 2001.

“Group revenue for the year decreased

20.7% to $25.0 million  (2000:  $31.6 million).

Group operating loss before tax was $1.6

million (2000: operating profit  before tax

$1.3 million)
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OUTLOOK   We anticipate that the year ahead will be difficult.  The selling price and demand for pallets is not inclined to

increase significantly, and the profit margin will remain modest in the foreseeable future.  The demand for technical wood will

depend largely on market acceptance.  While the Group’s performance is subjected to the prevailing market conditions, the

management has also identified key areas for improvement, which together with cost-cutting measures will lead to better

performance in the coming years.

For business development, the Group will intensify the marketing programmes to promote our technical wood and new flooring

product, “Greenflo” to both local and global market, in particular the China market where the Group has managed to establish

our marketing network. The Group is confident of Greenflo’s success and that it will contribute positively to the revenue in the

new financial year.

Likewise, the Group also expects the ECR (Efficient Consumer Response) pallets to be a significant revenue contributor next year.

ECR pallets, which used technical wood as a component, had being actively promoted in Singapore and Malaysia in the past

year.  The ECR pallets have since gained gradual acceptance, as evidenced from the increasing demand.

To lower our operating cost, the Group had implemented salary cut with effect from 1 March 2002.  Meanwhile, the Group will

continue to pursue cost saving measures in other areas and to leverage on improvements in productivity to stay competitive.

Barring unforeseen circumstances, we are optimistic that the overall performance of the Group will improve in current year, in

view of the above efforts and the anticipated economy recovery in the second half of year 2002.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank our customers, shareholders, bankers, and

business associates  for their unwavering support over the years.  In addition, I also want to thank the management and staff for

their dedication and loyalty toward the Company.

NEO KOON BOO

Managing Director

‘SUCCESSFUL COMPANIES WILL BE THOSE THAT WORK

WITH THEIR CUSTOMERS ON INNOVATIVE WAYS OF

EMPLOYING TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTS.”



THROUGH INNOVATIVE THINKING, WE HAVE CREATED A BUSINESS THAT

IS WIDELY REGARDED AS A LEADING EXAMPLE OF HOW WE HELP

PROTECT NATURE’S PRECIOUS ASSETS WHILE SUSTAINING WEALTH.

O P E R A T I O N S  R E V I E W

PALLET AND PACKAGING It was a difficult year for the pallet and packaging business which was adversely

affected by the generally depressed market condition, and in particular, by the depressed manufacturing industry in

Singapore. Intense competition, particularly from neighboring countries, in both local market and export markets

contributed further to the decrease in price and the number of pallets ordered. As a result, revenue for wooden

pallets and packaging product declined by 27% to  $18.8 million and an operating loss before tax of $0.3 million was

recorded. However, there was an improvement in the usage of technical wood as a component of the pallets

At our 25%-owned associated company, Takashima Packaging (S) Pte Ltd, the results were also affected by keen

competition in the pallet market. Share of operating profit before tax declined from $0.3 million in 2000 to $0.2

million in 2001.

PALLET RENTAL In 2001, the Group’s pallet rental business shown

substantial improvement and registered a revenue of $0.7 million during

the year under review as compared to $0.1 million in 2000. Our clients are

now more receptive to renting pallet as indicated by the gradual acceptance

of our Efficient Consumer Response (“ECR”) pallet due to the efficiency and

cost savings attributable to them. A total of 150,000 ECR pallets were

currently circulating in the Singapore and Malaysian market, and we plan

to continue our efforts to expand in this market.

Meanwhile, Kim Hiap Lee Company (Pte) Limited, our fully owned subsidiary

which deals mainly in pallet rental business, recorded satisfactory results

with a revenue of $ 0.6 million.
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TECHNICAL WOOD AND FLOORING PRODUCT  Revenue for technical

wood was $0.4 million as it continued to face competition from natural timber

product and slow market acceptance.  However, internal usage of the technical

wood as pallet components shown improvement from the previous year as a

result of increased acceptance of our ECR pallet especially in the Fast Moving

Consumer Goods (“FMCG”) Industry. The total volume of technical wood

consumption for internal usage was approximately 6,200m3. The demand for

our new technical wood flooring product was slow as new environmental-friendly

products generally took a longer time to gain  consumer acceptance. As such,

flooring product registered a revenue of $0.2 million and had not contributed

to the Group’s profit as forecasted. During the year 2001; the Group had actively

promoted our technical wood and flooring product by organising seminars and

participating in trade fairs. It is predicted that these efforts will generate better

results for coming years.

TIMBER RELATED PRODUCT In 2001, revenue from trading of timber

products increased to $4.9 million.  Despite the increase revenue, an operating

loss of $0.3 million was recorded due to thin profit  margin and keen competition.

Our trading activity was mainly conducted by our subsidiary company, LHT

Marketing Pte Ltd which shown an increased sales revenue to $ 2.5 million. It

had also managed to establish a wide business network in Japan and our

neighbouring countries.

O P E R A T I O N S  R E V I E W



OVERSEAS SUBSIDIARIES  Lian Hup Packaging Sdn Bhd, the wholly-owned

subsidiary in Malaysia which specialises in the sale of wooden products, timber

and packaging, registered a revenue of $2.5 million and incurred an

operating loss before tax of $0.04 million.

Siri Belukar Packaging Sdn. Bhd, a subsidiary company acquired in 3 April 2000

which is involved in manufacturing, import and export of wooden pallets and

related products, shown improved results in 2001 and registered a revenue and

operating profit before tax of $6 million and  $0.1 million respectively.

HUMAN RESOURCE AND QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL

MANAGEMENT In 2001, the Group  developed the potential of its staff

through in-house programs and external training courses, including sponsoring

selected employees for further education on a part-time basis for more than six

months. We will continue to emphasise the importance of upgrading skills,

technical knowledge and management capabilities through conducting more

training programs for our employees.

Meanwhile, we will continue to improve our quality management system and

raise our productivity and competitiveness. In order to enhance the image of

our environmental-friendly product and improve our environmental

management system , the Company successfully obtained ISO 14001 certification

in June 2001. In 2002, we will implement the new version of ISO-9001:2000 and

extend the scope of coverage to the operation of LHT’s Technical Wood Flooring.
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F I N A N C I A L  S U M M A R Y
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Notes:
The net earnings per share are calculated based on weighted average share capital of 60,416,667 shares, 88,750,000 shares and
170,000,000 shares for FY 97, FY 98 and FY 99 respectively, and post-floatation share capital of 200,000,000 shares for FY 2000
and FY 2001. The net tangible assets per share is calculated based on the year end issued shares where each $1.00 share is divided
into ten $0.10 share where applicable.

Financial year ended 31 December
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

($’000)  1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Turnover  33,366 25,338 26,598 31,555 25,010

Profit/(Loss) before taxation  2,786 3,712 1,905 1,288 (1,598)

Taxation (872) (1,090) 148 (484) (56)

Profit/(Loss) after taxation 1,914 2,622 2,053 804 (1,654)

Minority interest  - 29 (6) (20) (19)

Profit/(Loss) after minority interest 1,914 2,651 2,047 784 (1,673)

Extraordinary items - -  -  - -

Attributable profit/(Loss) 1,914 2,651 2,047 784 (1,673)

Earnings/ (Losses) per share (Cents) 3.17 2.99 1.20 0.39 (0.84)

FINANCIAL POSITION

($’000)

Fixed assets 8,159 21,239 21,648 25,573 24,512

Associated company 1,207 1,489 1,549 1,023 836

Intangible assets 218  271 252 268 240

Other investments 87 87 3 - -

Deferred expenditure  - - 168 - -

Current assets 15,185 11,984 15,100 15,015 14,859

Current liabilities (6,580) (8,628) (7,038) (7,930) (10,021)

Net current assets/ 8,605 3,356 8,062 7,085 4,838
(liabilities)

Non-current liabilities (4,174) (10,136) (6,126) (7,691) (6,102)

14,102 16,306 25,556 26,319 24,324

Shareholders’ fund 14,102 16,285 25,529 26,272 24,258

Minority interest - 21 27 47 66

14,102 16,306 25,556 26,319 24,324

Net tangible assets 18.51 16.01 12.55 13.00 12.00
per share (Cents)
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April 10 – 13 • LHT participated at China Floor 2001 in Shanghai.

During the exhibition, LHT unveiled its latest innovation – the Greenflo Technical Wood Flooring System.
During the three-day event, the Greenflo display booth received an encouraging
response of more than 180 product enquiries.

May 11 – 13 • Greenflo was launched officially in
Malaysia during a three-day introductory exhibition held
exclusively at the City Square in Johor Bahru

June 25 • On top of its ISO 9002 certification, LHT was
awarded the ISO 14001 and certificates for its environment  management system.

June 29 • Members and designated proxies of LHT Holdings Limited turned out
for the Annual General Meeting held at the premises.

August 06 • The Trademark No. T99/11728G was approved for the - “LHT Technical Wood”.

October 08 • LHT organized a seminar titled “Towards The Green Building of The New Millenium” at
Puteri Pan Pacific Hotel in Johor Bahru.

The seminar was officially opened by YB Dato Dr Chua Soi Lek, Chairman of
Tourism and Environment in the State of Johor, Malaysia. The objective of the seminar
was to introduce to the construction industry of Johor the various environmentally
friendly products made of Technical Wood and Greenflo Technical Wood Flooring
System.

November 07 • LHT participated at the JTC-ENV
Industrial Fair jointly organized by JTC and the Ministry
of the Environment.

November 11 • LHT took part in the Closing Ceremony of Clean & Green Week
2001 organized by the Ministry of the Environment

On the same day, LHT also participated at the Environmental Workshop
jointly organized by Yew Tee Zone 8 & 9 RC and Yew Tee C C WEC.

November 12 LHT took part in the Green Environment Project 2001 jointly
organized by JTC and Ministry of the Environment.

LHT particiapted in JTC-ENV Industrial Fair.

NOVEMBER 07

LHT took part in the Green Environment
Project 2001 jointly organised by JTC &
Ministry of the Environment.

NOVEMBER 12

LHT took part in the Closing Ceremony of
Clean & Green Week.

NOVEMBER 11

LHT Organised a seminar titled “Towards The
Green Building of the New Millenium” at
Puteri Pan Pacific Hotel in Johor Bahru.

OCTOBER 08

TECHNICAL WOOD
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LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Report of the Directors 
 
 
 
 

 

The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and of the 
Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2001. 
 
 
Principal activities 
 
The principal activities of the Company are those of manufacturing and trading wooden pallets and timber 
related products.  The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are set out in Note 3 to the financial 
statements.  There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
 
Results for the financial year 
 
 Group Company 
 $’000 $’000 
 
Loss after income tax and minority interest (1,673) (1,719) 
Revenue reserve brought forward (restated) 3,074 2,407 
 ______ ______ 

 1,401 688 
Dividends on ordinary shares, less income tax (Note 25) (378) (378) 
 ______ ______ 

Revenue reserve at end of year 1,023 310 
 ===== ===== 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Company and of the Group during the 
financial year have not been affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature. 
 
 
Transfers to/from reserves and provisions 
 
There have been no other material transfers to or from reserves and provisions except for normal amounts set 
aside for such items as depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets and provisions for doubtful trade 
debts, obsolete stocks, diminution in value of investment and income tax as disclosed in the financial 
statements. 
 
 
Dividends 
 
During the financial year, a first and final dividend of 2.5% or 0.25 cents per ordinary share, less income tax of 
24.5% amounting to $377,500 was paid in respect of the previous financial year and as proposed in the Report 
of the Directors of that year. 
 
No dividend has been paid, declared or recommended for the financial year under review. 
 
 
Issue of shares 
 
No shares were issued during the financial year. 
 
There is presently no share option scheme on unissued shares. 
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LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Report of the Directors 
 
 
 
 

 

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiary companies 
 
There was no acquisition and disposal of subsidiary companies during the financial year. 
 
 
Directors of the Company 
 
The names of the Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are: - 
 
Neo Koon Boo 
Tan Kim Sing 
Yap Mui Kee 
Low Peng Kit 
Tan Kok Hiang 
Yap Mei Yen, Sally 
 
The Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of Directors’ 
shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, no interest in shares of 
the Company and its subsidiary companies, except as stated below: - 
 
 
 At the beginning At the end At 21 
Name of Directors of the year of the year January 2002 

 Ordinary shares of $0.10 each 
 Held in the name of Directors 
 and/or their nominees 
 
The Company 
 
Neo Koon Boo 45,264,590 45,435,590 45,345,590 
Tan Kim Sing 38,376,820 38,541,820 38,541,820 
Yap Mui Kee 22,124,130 22,124,130 22,124,130 
Low Peng Kit 15,000 15,000 15,000 
Tan Kok Hiang 25,000 25,000 25,000 
Yap Mei Yen, Sally   38,000 145,000 145,000 
 
 
By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Mr Neo Koon Boo is deemed to be interested in all the 
shares held by the Company in its subsidiary companies at the beginning and end of the financial year. 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive any other 
benefits under contracts required to be disclosed by Section 201(8) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50. 
 
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangements, to 
which the Company is a party, whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 
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LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Report of the Directors 
 
 
 
 

 

Asset values 
 
Before the income and expenditure statements and balance sheet of the Company were made out, the 
Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that: 
 
  (a) action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for 

doubtful debts and have satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts to be written off 
and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and 

 
  (b) any current assets which were unlikely to realise their book value in the ordinary course of business 

had been written down to their estimated realisable values or adequate provision had been made for 
the difference between those values. 

 
At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render: 
 
  (a) the amount written off as bad debts or amount provided for bad and doubtful debts in the Group 

inadequate to any substantial extent; and 
 
  (b) the values attributed to current assets in the consolidated financial statements misleading. 
 
 
Charges and contingent liabilities 
 
Since the end of the financial year no charge on the assets of the Company or any company in the Group has 
arisen which secures the liabilities of any other person. 
 
Since the end of the financial year no contingent liability of the Company or any company in the Group has 
arisen. 
 
No contingent or other liability of the Company or any company in the Group has become enforceable or is 
likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the 
opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Company and of the Group to meet 
their obligations as and when they fall due. 
 
 
Other circumstances affecting the financial statements 
 
At the date of this report the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or the financial statements of the Company and of the Group which would render any amount stated in 
the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements misleading. 
 
 
Unusual items after the financial year 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the 
interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which would affect substantially the 
results of the operations of the Company or of the Group for the financial year in which this report is made. 
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LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Report of the Directors 
 
 
 
 

 

Report of Board Audit Committee 
 
The Board Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with the Companies Act, Cap. 50. 
 
The Committee’s principal functions are to review the audit plans and the scope of examination of the external 
auditor of the Company.  It also evaluated the findings of the external auditor’s review of the internal 
accounting controls of the Company and the Group.  The response of management to these findings is 
monitored to ensure that appropriate follow-up measures are taken.  The Committee’s activities include a 
review of the financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 
2001 and the Auditor’s Report thereon. 
 
The Committee recommends to the Board of Directors the nomination of Ernst & Young, Certified Public 
Accountants, for re-appointment as auditor at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. 
 
 
Auditor 
 
Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board, 
 
 
 
 
 
Neo Koon Boo 
Managing Director 
 
 
 
 
 
Tan Kim Sing 
Director 
 
 
Singapore 
12 April 2002 
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LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Report of Corporate Governance 
 
 
 
 

 

Corporate Governance 
 
The Board of Directors of LHT Holdings Limited is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate 
governance within the Group.  Good corporate governance establishes and maintains a legal and ethical 
environment in which the Group strives to preserve the interest of all shareholders. 
 
The Board has also reviewed the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) issued by the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).  Certain recommendations of the Code have been adopted 
and the Board is currently planning implementation for other recommendations of the Code by 2003. 
 
For effective corporate governance, it has put in place the following self-regulatory and monitoring 
mechanisms: - 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors comprises six Directors, two of whom are independent Directors. The executive and 
independent Directors are as follows: 
 
Executive Directors: 
 
Neo Koon Boo (Managing Director) 
Tan Kim Sing 
Yap Mui Kee 
Yap Mei Yen, Sally (Alternate Director to Yap Mui Kee) 
 
 
Independent Directors: 
 
Tan Kok Hiang 
Low Peng Kit 
 
 
The Board holds meetings on a regular basis to discuss operations and business affairs of the Company. The 
Board, apart from its statutory responsibilities, evaluates and approves investments in new and existing 
businesses, identifies risks and ensures appropriate internal controls are in place to manage these risks and, 
provides guidance and strategic directions to management. 
 
Whilst the Directors take a keen interest in the Group’s business strategies, they are also committed to 
increasing the level of corporate governance in the Company so as to enable the Board to carry out such 
functions more effectively. 
 
 
Audit Committee 
 
 
The Audit Committee comprises of three members, the majority of whom are independent: - 
 
Tan Kok Hiang (Chairman/Independent) 
Low Peng Kit (Independent) 
Neo Koon Boo (Non-independent) 
 
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited issued a Best Practices Guide on 4 May 1998.  The 
Company has adopted the formats set out by this Guide in relation to the roles and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee with the overall objective of ensuring that the management has created and maintained an effective 
control environment in the Company and the Group. 
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LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Report of Corporate Governance 
 
 
 
 

 

Corporate Governance (cont’d) 
 
Audit Committee (cont’d) 
 
The Committee holds biannual meetings and performs the following functions: - 

 
(a) Review with the internal and external auditor on their respective audit plans; 
 
(b) Review with the internal and external auditor their evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s 

material internal controls together with management’s response; 
 
(c) Review the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors; 
 
(d) Review the assistance given by the Company officers to the internal and external auditor; 
 
(e) Review the financial statements of the Company and the Group before their submission to the Board, 

together with the external auditor’s report; 
 
(f) Nominate an external auditor; and 
 
(g) Review any interested-person transactions. 
 
 
In the process of performing the above functions, the Committee will, at least annually, arrange meetings with 
the internal and external auditors.  
 
The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the financial year and there was full attendance at each of 
these meetings. 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, LHT Holdings Limited complies with the Best Practices Guide adopted. 
 
The Committee has full access to and co-operation from the Company’s management and has full discretion to 
invite any Director or Executive Officer to attend its meeting.  The auditor has unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee.  The Audit Committee has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function properly. 
 
The Audit Committee may examine whatever aspects it deems appropriate of the Group’s financial affairs, its 
audits and its exposure to risks of a regulatory or legal nature.  It keeps under review the effectiveness of LHT 
Holdings Limited’s system of accounting and internal financial controls, for which the Directors are responsible.  
It also keeps under review the Company’s programme to monitor compliance with its legal regulatory and 
contractual obligations. 
 
 
Securities Transactions 
 
Following the introduction of the Best Practices Guide by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, 
the Company has issued a policy on the restrictions of Share Dealing to key employees of the Company, 
setting out the implications of insider trading and the recommendations of the Best Practices Guide.  The 
Group has adopted a set of codes of conduct to provide guidance to its officers with regard to dealing in the 
Company’s shares. 
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Internal Audit Function 
 
Internal Audit Function for the Group is performed by Ernst and Young, Business Risk Services Department.  
The internal auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee and assists the Audit Committee in monitoring and 
assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls.  The internal auditor also assists the 
Group’s and subsidiaries’ management in identifying operational and business risks and provides 
recommendations to address these risks. 
 
 
Communications with Shareholders 
 
The Company believes in the value of frequent communications on its major corporate and business 
development with the SGX-ST, shareholders, securities analysts, stockbroking dealers, fund managers, the 
media and its employees.  The Company’s Managing Director and Financial Controller are the primary 
corporate spokesmen, who are supported by the Company’s dedicated team of investor relations officers. 
 
On a regular and timely basis, the Company simultaneously transmits such news via MASNET to securities 
analysts, shareholders, and the media.  The Company posts these news on its public website, www.lht.com.sg, 
to ensure that all stakeholders and the public gain fair access to information, updates, and archives of the 
Company.  The Company’s external auditor is present in Annual General Meetings to assist the management 
and Board of Directors in clarifying responses to shareholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board, 
 
 
 
 
 
Neo Koon Boo 
Managing Director 
 
 
 
 
 
Tan Kim Sing 
Director 
 
 
Singapore 
12 April 2002 
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Statement by Directors Pursuant to Section 201(15) 
  
 
  
 
 
 

We, Neo Koon Boo and Tan Kim Sing, being two of the Directors of LHT Holdings Limited, do hereby state 

that, in the opinion of the Directors : 

 

  (a) the balance sheets, income and expenditure statements, statements of changes in equity and 

consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto, set out on pages 22 to 53, are 

drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as 

at 31 December 2001; the results and changes in equity of the Company and of the Group and the 

cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date; and 

 

  (b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

 

The Board of Directors authorised these financial statements for issue on 12 April 2002. 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board, 
 
 
 
 
 
Neo Koon Boo 
Managing Director 
 
 
 
 
 
Tan Kim Sing 
Director 
 
 
Singapore 
12 April 2002 
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Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
LHT Holdings Limited 
  
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of LHT Holdings Limited and the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group set out on pages 22 to 53.  These financial statements comprise the balance sheets of the 
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2001, the income and expenditure statements and statements of 
changes in equity of the Company and the Group, the cash flow statement of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2001 and notes thereto.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's 
Directors.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, 
 
(a) the financial statements and consolidated financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance 

with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (“Act”) and Singapore Statements of Accounting 
Standard and so as to give a true and fair view of: 

 
(i) the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2001, the results 

and changes in equity of the Company and of the Group and cash flows of the Group for the 
year ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) the other matters required by section 201 of the Act to be dealt with in the financial 

statements and consolidated financial statements; 
 

(b) the accounting and other records, and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company 
and by those subsidiary companies incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

 
We have considered the financial statements and auditors' reports of all subsidiary companies of which we 
have not acted as auditors, being financial statements included in the consolidated financial statements.  The 
names of those subsidiary companies audited by our associated firms are stated in Note 3. 
 
We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with 
the financial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and 
explanations as required by us for those purposes. 
 
The auditors' reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies were not subject to any 
qualification and in respect of subsidiary companies incorporated in Singapore did not include any comment 
made under section 207(3) of the Act. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ERNST & YOUNG 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Singapore 
12 April 2002 
 
Audit Partner : Jen Shek Voon 
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Income and Expenditure Statements for the year ended 31 December 2001 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 Group Company 
 Note  2001 

$’000 

 2000 

$’000 

 2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 
 
 
Turnover 4 25,010 31,555 23,083 29,990 
 
Cost of sales  (21,880) (25,375) (21,022) (24,417) 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

Gross profit  3,130 6,180 2,061 5,573 
 
Distribution costs  (895) (1,436) (826) (1,430) 
 
General and administrative 
  costs  (6,241) (5,709) (5,697) (4,942) 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

Operating loss  (4,006) (965) (4,462) (799) 
 
Other income  2,654 2,313 3,172 2,746 
 
Finance costs, net 5 (466) (350) (429) (315) 
 
Share of results from 
  associated company  220 290 –    –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

(Loss)/profit before 
  income tax 6 (1,598) 1,288 (1,719) 1,632 
 
Income tax 7 (56) (484) –   (332) 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

(Loss)/profit after 
  income tax  (1,654) 804 (1,719) 1,300 
 
Minority interest, net of 
  income tax  (19) (20) –   –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

(Loss)/profit after income tax 
  attributable to members 
  of the Company transferred 
  to revenue reserve  (1,673) 784 (1,719) 1,300 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
Basic (loss)/earnings per 
  share (cents) 8 (0.84) 0.39 
  ====== ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial 
statements. 
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Balance Sheets as at 31 December 2001 
  
   
   Group  Company 
 Note     2001 

   $’000 
    2000 

   $’000 
    2001 

   $’000 
    2000 

   $’000 
 
         
Non-Current Assets         
Intangible assets 9  240 268  213  232 
Fixed assets under construction 10  –    61  –     61 
Fixed assets 11  24,512 25,573  21,852  23,545 
Investments         
  -  Subsidiary companies 12  –    –     2,514  2,738 
  -  Associated company 13  836 1,023  150  150 
   _______ _______  _______  _______ 
   25,588 26,925  24,729  26,726 
   _______ _______  _______  _______ 
Current Assets         
Stocks 14  7,200 6,944  7,020  5,521 
Trade debtors 15  4,731 5,355  4,242  5,102 
Amounts due from related         
  companies 16  330 859  1,391  1,985 
Other debtors 17  686 689  794  745 
Fixed deposits    33 31  –     –    
Cash and bank balances   1,879 1,137  722  937 
   14,859 15,015  14,169  14,290 
         
Current Liabilities         
Trade creditors and accruals   4,311 4,410  3,436  3,507 
Amounts due to related         
  companies 18  81 75  491  1,010 
Other creditors and provision 19  703 740  364  431 
Lease creditors 20  314 299  314  299 
Amounts due to bankers, 
secured 

21  4,590 2,388  4,590  2,388 

Provision for income tax   22 18  –     –    
   10,021 7,930  9,195  7,635 
         
Net Current Assets   4,838 7,085  4,974  6,655 
Non-Current Liabilities         
Lease creditors 20  949 1,260  949  1,260 
Amounts due to bankers, 
secured 

21  4,002 5,272  4,002  5,272 

Deferred income tax 22  1,151 1,159  1,149  1,149 
   _______ _______  _______  _______ 
   24,324 26,319  23,603  25,700 
   ====== ======  ======  ====== 
         
Share Capital and Reserves         
Share capital 23  20,000 20,000  20,000  20,000 
Share premium 24  3,293 3,293  3,293  3,293 
Foreign currency translation         
  reserve   (58) (95)  –     –    
Accumulated profits   1,023 3,074  310  2,407 
   _______ _______  _______  _______ 
   24,258 26,272  23,603  25,700 
Minority interest   66 47  –     –    
   _______ _______  _______  _______ 
   24,324 26,319  23,603  25,700 
   ====== ======  ======  ====== 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial 
statements. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2001 
  
 
  
 
 Group Company 
  2001 2000 2001 2000 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Share capital 

Balance at beginning and end of year  20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 
Share premium 

Balance at beginning and end of year  3,293 3,293 3,293 3,293 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 
Foreign currency translation reserves 
 
Balance at 1 January  (95) (113) –    –    
 
Translation differences for the year  37 18 –    –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Balance at 31 December  (58) (95) –    –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 
Accumulated profits 
 
Balance at 1 January  2,748 2,349 2,081 1,166 
 
Effect of changes in accounting policies 
  - SAS 10, Note 2b(i)  378 1,110 378 1,110 
 
  - SAS 17, Note 2b(ii)  (52) (52) (52) (52) 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
As restated  3,074 3,407 2,407 2,224 
 
(Loss)/profit for the year  (1,673) 784 (1,719) 1,300 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares, Note 25  (378) (1,117) (378) (1,117) 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
Balance at 31 December  1,023 3,074 310 2,407 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 
 
Share capital and reserves  24,258 26,272 23,603 25,700 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
Net change in equity from non-owner 
  sources excluding net profits  37 18 –    –    
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial 
statements. 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2001 
  
 
  
 
 2001 2000 

 $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities: 
(Loss)/profit before income tax (1,598) 1,288 
Adjustments for: 
  Interest expense 473 409 
  Interest income (7) (59) 
  Provision for diminution in investment –    3 
  Depreciation of fixed assets 2,689 2,199 
  Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets 6 (7) 
  Amortisation of intangible assets 28 261 
  Share of results of associated companies (220) (290) 
  Fixed assets written off 35 –    
  Grant income –    (111) 
 _______ _______ 
Operating profit before reinvestment in working capital 1,406 3,693 
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 1,228 (631) 
Increase in stocks (256) (2,928) 
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (130) 454 
Effects of exchange rate changes (19) (40) 
 _______ _______ 
Cash generated from operations 2,229 548 
Interest received 7 59 
Interest paid (473) (409) 
Income taxes paid (66) (20) 
 _______ _______ 
Net cash generated from operating activities 1,697 178 
 _______ _______ 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
Acquisition of subsidiary company (note (ii)) –    (523) 
Payments of fixed assets under construction (1,059) (967) 
Purchase of fixed assets (493) (4,154) 
Dividends from associated companies, net 340 335 
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets –    7 
Increase in deferred expenditure –    (64) 
Grant received –    111 
 _______ _______ 
Net cash used in investing activities (1,212) (5,255) 
 _______ _______ 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Proceeds from hire purchase loan 3 1,592 
Repayment of term loans (299) (1,912) 
Term loans obtained 4,134 2,000 
Repayment of hire purchase loan (3,335) (149) 
Dividends paid (378) (1,117) 
 _______ _______ 
Net cash provided by financing activities 125 414 
 _______ _______ 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 610 (4,663) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 624 5,287 
 _______ _______ 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note (i)) 1,234 624 
 ====== ====== 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2001 
  
 
 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, current accounts with banks, fixed deposits and 

bank overdrafts. 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise the following 

balance sheet amounts: - 
 
 2001 2000 

 $’000 $’000 
 Fixed deposits 33 31 
 Cash and bank balances 1,879 1,137 
 Bank overdraft, secured (678) (544) 
  ______ ______ 

  1,234 624 
  ===== ===== 
 
(ii) Acquisition of a subsidiary company 
 
 The acquisition of the assets and liabilities of a subsidiary company has been shown in the statement 

as a single item.  The effect on the individual assets and liabilities is set out below: - 
 
 2001 2000 

 $’000 $’000 
 Fixed assets –    1,061 
 Stocks –    316 
 Debtors –    497 
 Creditors –    (731) 
 Bank borrowings –    (243) 
 Cash and cash equivalents –    (39) 
  ______ ______ 

 Net assets acquired –    861 
 Transfer from associated company –    (422) 
  ______ ______ 

 Net assets acquired –    439 
 Goodwill on acquisition –    45 
  ______ ______ 

  –    484 
  ===== ===== 

 Cash consideration paid –    (484) 
 Less : Cash and cash equivalents acquired –    (39) 
  ______ ______ 

 Cash flow on acquisition, net of cash and 
   cash equivalents acquired –    (523) 
  ===== ===== 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial 
statements. 
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1. Corporate information 
 
 The consolidated financial statements of LHT Holdings Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 

December 2001 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 12 April 
2002. 

 
 The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore as a private limited company and was 

converted into a public limited company on 5 July 1999.  The Company was admitted to the official list 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 11 August 1999. 

 
 The registered office of LHT Holdings Limited is located at 27 Sungei Kadut Street 1, Singapore 

729335 which is also its principal place of business. 
 
 The principal activities of the Company are those of manufacturing and trading wooden pallets and 

timber related products.  The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are set out in Note 3 to 
the financial statements.  There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities 
during the financial year. 

 
 Details of the subsidiary companies are included in Note 3. 
 
 The Group and Company employed 231 (2000: 249) and 197 (2000: 216) employees as at  

31 December 2001 respectively. 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Basis of accounting 
 
 The financial statements of the Company and of the Group have been prepared in 

accordance with Singapore Statements of Accounting Standard (“SAS”) and applicable 
requirements of Singapore law and under historical cost basis. 

 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ($). 

 
(b) Changes in accounting policies 
 

(i) During the year, the Company changed its accounting policy from recognising 
dividends proposed or declared after the balance sheet date as a liability as at the 
balance sheet date to disclosing such dividends as a subsequent event in 
accordance with SAS 10, Events after the Balance Sheet Date.  The effect of this 
change is an increase in the accumulated profits and net assets of the Company 
and of the Group as at 31 December 2001 of $378,000 (2000: $1,110,000).  The 
comparatives for 2000 have been restated to conform to this new policy. 

 
(ii) In accordance with SAS 17, Employee Benefits, accrual was made for unconsumed 

annual leave on an earned basis.  This change in policy has the effect of reducing 
current year’s profit before tax by about $33,000 (2000: $52,000).  The cumulative 
charges for the prior year have the effect of reducing the prior year accumulated 
profits and net assets by $52,000 (2000: nil), so as to conform to this new policy. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(c) Basis of consolidation 
 
 The accounting year of the Company and all its subsidiary companies in the Group ends on 

31 December and the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements 
of the Company and all its subsidiary companies.  The results of subsidiary companies 
acquired or disposed off during the financial year are included in or excluded from the 
respective dates of acquisition or disposal, as applicable.  Intercompany transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation and the consolidated financial statements reflect external 
transactions only. 

 
 When subsidiary companies are acquired, any excess of the consideration paid over the fair 

values of the net identifiable assets acquired is included in goodwill on consolidation and is 
amortised to the income and expenditure statement on a straight line basis over its 
estimated economic life of 5 years. 

 
 Assets, liabilities and results of overseas subsidiary companies are translated into Singapore 

dollars on the basis outlined in paragraph (m) below. 
 
(d) Subsidiary companies 
 
 A subsidiary company is defined as a company in which the investing company has a long 

term equity interest of more than 50% or in whose financial and operating policy decisions 
the Group controls. 

 
 Investments in subsidiary companies are stated in the financial statements of the Company 

at cost and any impairment in value which is other than temporary is recognised in the 
income and expenditure statement of the Company. 

 
(e) Associated companies 
 
 An associated company is defined as a company, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group 

has a long-term interest of not less than 20% of the equity and in whose financial and 
operating policy decisions the Group exercises significant influence. 

 
 The Group's investment in associated companies are recorded at cost and adjusted to 

recognise the Group's share of the net assets of the associated companies at the date of 
acquisition.  The excess or deficit of the net assets of the associated companies and the 
consideration paid is amortised to the income and expenditure statement on a straight line 
basis over its estimated economic life. 

 
 The Group's share of the results of associated companies are included in the consolidated 

income and expenditure statement.  The Group's share of the post-acquisition reserves of 
associated companies are included in the investments in the consolidated balance sheet.  
Where the audited financial statements are not co-terminous with those of the Group, the 
share of profits is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and 
unaudited management financial statements to the end of the accounting period. 

 
 Investment in associated companies are stated in the financial statements of the Company 

at cost and provision is made when there has been a decline, other than temporary, in the 
value of the investments. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(f) Revenue recognition 
 
 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 

the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised. 

 
 Sale of goods 
 
 Revenues from the sale of manufactured products are recognised upon passage of title to 

the customers which generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance. 
 
 Commission 
 
 Commission revenues from the provision of agency services are recognised upon goods 

delivered and invoiced by the principals to the customers on orders contracted by the 
Company on the principals’ behalf. 

 
 Rental income 
 
 Revenues from rental of pallets are recognised upon the duration of the contracts that have 

expired. 
 
(g) Fixed assets 
 
 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  The cost of an asset 

comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to 
working condition for its intended use.  Expenditure for additions, improvements and 
renewals are capitalised and expenditure for maintenance and repairs are charged to the 
income and expenditure statement.  When assets are sold or retired, their cost and 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the financial statements and any gain or loss 
resulting from their disposal is included in the income and expenditure statement.  
Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged to income and expenditure statement on the 
basis outlined in paragraph (l) below. 

 
 The carrying amounts are reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether they are 

recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts, and if carrying values exceed these 
recoverable amounts, assets are written down. 

 
(h) Leased assets 
 
 Where assets are financed by lease agreements that give rights approximating to ownership 

(finance leases), the assets are capitalised under fixed assets as if they had been purchased 
outright at the values equivalent to the present values of total rental payable during the 
periods of the leases and the corresponding lease commitments are included under 
liabilities.  Lease payments are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements and the 
interest is charged to income and expenditure statement.  Depreciation on the relevant 
assets is charged to income and expenditure statement on the basis outlined in paragraph (l) 
below. 

 
 Annual rental on operating leases is charged to income and expenditure statement. 
 
(i) Investments 
 

Investments held on a long-term basis are stated at cost.  Provision is made for any 
diminution which is considered to be other than temporary. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(j) Stocks 
 
 Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost of materials is 

determined on a first-in-first-out basis.  In the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, 
cost includes direct materials, direct labour and attributable production overheads.  Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less anticipated cost of disposal and 
after making allowance for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items. 

 
(k) Deferred income tax 

 Deferred income tax is accounted for under the liability method whereby the tax charge for 
the financial year is based on the disclosed book profit after adjusting for all permanent 
differences.  The amount of income tax deferred on account of all timing differences is 
reflected in the deferred income tax account. Deferred income tax benefits are not 
recognised unless there is reasonable expectation of their realisation. 

 
(l) Depreciation 

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of the fixed assets 
over their estimated useful lives as follows: - 

 
   Leasehold properties 7 - 99 years 
   Plant and machinery 5 - 15 years 
   Office furniture, fittings and equipment 5 years 
   Motor vehicles and forklifts 5 years 
   Rental pallets 3 years 
 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in 
use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these assets. 
 
Fixed assets under construction which include rental pallets are stated at cost and are not 
subjected to depreciation charge until it is completed and in use. 

 
(m) Foreign currencies 

 Transactions arising in foreign currencies during the financial year are converted at rates 
closely approximating those ruling on the transaction dates.  Foreign currency monetary 
assets and liabilities are translated into local currency at exchange rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date.  All exchange differences arising from conversion are included in the 
income and expenditure statement. 

 For inclusion in the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiary and associated companies are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange 
rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Exchange differences due to such currency 
translations are included in foreign currency translation reserve. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(n) Intangible assets 
 
 Intangible assets include licence fee and goodwill on consolidation. 
 

Licence fee consists of a one-time non-refundable licence fee for the use of the 'WERZALIT-
Process' and other intellectual property rights. 
 
Goodwill on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair 
value of identifiable net assets of a subsidiary or associate company at the date of 
acquisition. 
 
Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the Group’s share of the net 
assets acquired over the cost of acquisition.  Negative goodwill is presented in the same 
balance sheet classifications as goodwill.  To the extent that negative goodwill relates to 
expectations of future losses and expenses that are identified in the Group’s plan for the 
acquisition and can be measured reliably, but which do not represent identifiable liabilities, 
that portion of negative goodwill is recognised to income and expenditure statement when 
the future losses and expenses are recognised.  Any remaining negative goodwill, not 
exceeding the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired, is recognised in the income 
and expenditure statement over the remaining weighted average useful life of those assets; 
negative goodwill in excess of the fair values of those assets is recognised in the income 
and expenditure statement immediately. 
 
Intangible assets are capitalised and will be amortised to the income and expenditure 
statements on the following basis: - 
 
Licence fee - 15 years over the licence agreement 
Goodwill on consolidation - 5 years over its estimated useful economic lives 

 
(o) Government grants 
 
 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions 

of the grants are complied with and the amount of the grant will be received. 
 
(p) Provisions 
 
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 

a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimates. 

 
(q) Trade and other debtors 
 
 Trade debtors are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for 

any uncollectible amounts.  An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full 
amount is no longer probable.  Bad debts are written off as incurred. 

 
 Other debtors are recognised and carried at cost less an allowance for any uncollectible 

amounts. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
(r) Amount due to/from related companies 
 
 Amounts due from related companies are recognised and carried at cost less an allowance 

for any uncollectible amounts.  Amounts due to related companies are recognised and 
carried at cost. 

 
(s) Amounts due to bankers 
 
 Amounts due to bankers are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration 

received and including acquisition charges associated with the borrowing/loan. 
 
(t) Trade and other creditors 
 
 Liabilities for trade and other creditors are carried at cost which is the fair value of the 

consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 
to the Group. 

 
(u) Employee benefits 
 
 Defined contribution plan 
 
 As required by law, the Company in Singapore makes contributions to the state pension 

scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”).  CPF contributions are recognised as 
compensation expenses in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the 
contribution. 

 
 Employee leave entitlement 
 
 In accordance with SAS 17, employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when 

they accrue to employees.  An accrual is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result 
of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. 

 
(v) Cash and bank balances 
 
 Cash and bank balances are carried at cost. 
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3. Group companies 
 
 The subsidiary and associated companies as at 31 December 2001 are: - 
 

   Percentage 
Name of company  of equity 
(Country of incorporation Principal  held by 
and place of business) activities the Group Cost 
   2001 2000 2001 2000 
   % % $’000 $’000 

 Subsidiary Companies of LHT Holdings Limited 

  Kim Hiap Lee Company Timber merchants, 100 100 1,649 1,649 
  (Pte.) Limited sawmillers and pallet 
  (Singapore) rental 

    * Lian Hup Packaging Dealers in woodproducts, 100 100 112 112 
  Industries Sdn. Bhd. pallets and packaging 
  (Malaysia) 

    * Siri Belukar Packaging Manufacturer, importer 100 100 877 877 
  Sdn Bhd and exporter of wooden 
  (Malaysia) pallets and related products 

  LHT Marketing Pte Ltd Timber merchants and 67 67 100 100 
  (Singapore) commission agents 
      _____ _____ 
      2,738 2,738 
      ==== ==== 

 
Associated companies of LHT Holdings Limited 

  #** Takashima Packaging Assembly and sale 25 25 150 150 
 (S) Pte Ltd of packaging materials   ==== ==== 
 (Singapore) 

 
  * Audited by a member firm of Ernst & Young International 
 
** Audited by other public accounting firm 
 Takashima Packaging (S) Pte Ltd - Heng Lee Seng & Co 
 
# Accounting year end on 31 March. 

 
 
4. Turnover 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

Turnover is analysed as follows :- 

 Sale of goods 24,162 31,112 22,944 29,990 

 Commission 115 222 –    –    

 Pallet rental 733 221 139 –    
  ______ ______ ______ ______ 
  25,010 31,555 23,083 29,990 
  ===== ===== ===== ===== 
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5. Finance costs, net 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Interest income in respect of: - 

   -  fixed deposits (7) (59) (7) (58) 
  ______ ______ ______ ______ 

 Interest expense in respect of: - 

   -  finance leases 80 20 80 20 
   -  bank overdrafts 13 1 13 1 
   -  term loans 328 330 313 305 

 Bank charges 52 58 30 47 
  ______ ______ ______ ______ 
  473 409 436 373 
  ______ ______ ______ ______ 
 
  466 350 429 315 
  ===== ===== ===== ===== 
 
 
6. (Loss)/profit before income tax 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

Profit before income tax is stated 
  after charging/(crediting): - 

   Bad debts written off - trade 1 –    –    –    

   Depreciation of fixed assets 2,689 2,199 2,144 1,958 

   Auditors' remuneration 

    Auditor for the Company 

      - Statutory audit 

         -  current year 61 43 56 34 

      - Other services 59   36 54 33 

      - Other auditors of 
         subsidiary companies 5 4 –    –    

   Directors' remuneration 

    -  Directors of the Company     

      - CPF and other defined 
          contribution plans 26 24 26 24 

      - Salaries, wages and other 
          costs 416 435 416 435 
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6. (Loss)/profit before income tax (cont’d) 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

    -  Directors of a subsidiary 
         company         

      - Salaries, wages and other 
          costs 161 141 – – 

   Directors’ fees 109 109 102 102 

   Fixed assets written off 35 –    35 –    

   Provision for doubtful trade debts 167 62 159 62 

   Provision for stock obsolescence 593 58 593 58 

   Amortisation of intangible 
    assets 28 261 19 251 

   Provision for diminution 
    in investment –    3 224 –    

   Provision for damages 60 –    60 –    

   Staff cost 

    -  CPF and other defined 
         contribution plans 390 318 338 279 
    -  Salaries, wages and 
         other costs 4,553 5,061 4,179 4,767 
    -  Provision for unconsumed 
         leave 33 52 33 52 

   Loss/(gain) on disposal of 
     fixed assets 6 (7) –    (11) 

   Foreign currency exchange gain (147) (107) (124) (104) 

   Dividend income from 
    an associated company –    –    (450) (450) 

   Grant income –    (111) –    (111) 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
  2001 2000 

 Number of Directors of the Company 
   in remuneration bands of: - 

   -  Above $500,000   –    –    

   -  $250,000 to $499,999   –    –    

   -  Below $250,000   6 6 
    ______ ______ 

    6 6 
    ===== ===== 
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7. Income tax 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Provision for income tax in respect 
  of profit for the year: - 

   Current income tax 7 38 –    –    

   (Write-back)/provision for 
    deferred income tax (Note 22) (8) 332 –    332 

   Overprovision in respect 
    of previous year (10) –    –    –    

   Associated company 67 114 –    –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  56 484 –    332 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 The income tax charge of the Group for the current year is materially lower from the amount 

determined by applying the Singapore corporate tax rate of 24.5% to the pre-tax profits because of the 
utilisation of unabsorbed capital allowances. 

 
 The income tax charge of the Group for the previous year is materially higher from the amount 

determined by applying the Singapore corporate tax rate of 25.5% to the pre-tax profits because of 
certain non-deductible expenses. 

 
 There was no income tax charge provided for the Company during the year as the Company is in tax 

loss position. 
 
 The income tax charge of the Company for the previous year is materially lower from the amount 

determined by applying the Singapore corporate tax rate of 25.5% to the pre-tax profits because of the 
utilisation of unabsorbed capital allowances. 

 
 As at 31 December 2001, the Group and Company has available unabsorbed capital allowances and 

unutilised investment allowances of approximately $6,805,000 (2000: $1,653,000) and $895,000 
(2000: $895,000) respectively, available to set-off against future taxable profits subject to agreement 
with the tax authorities on the relevant tax regulation. 

 
 
8. (Loss)/earnings per share 
 
 The basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net (loss)/profit after income tax and 

attributable to members of ($1,673,000) (2000: profit of $784,000) by the weighted average number of 
200,000,000 (2000: 200,000,000) ordinary shares, in issue during the financial year.  No dilution of 
earnings per share since there is presently no share option scheme on unissued shares. 

 
 

36 



LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements - 31 December 2001 
 
 
 
 

 

9. Intangible assets 
 

 
Group 

Licence 
fee 

$’000 

Deferred 
expenditure 

$’000 

Goodwill on 
consolidation

$’000 

 
Total 

$’000 

 Cost 

   Balance at beginning and 
    end of year 291 235 45 571 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 Accumulated amortisation 

   Balance at beginning of year 59 235 9 303 
   Charge for the year 19 –    9 28 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

   Balance at end of year 78 235 18 331 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 Charge for 2000 20 232 9 261 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 Net book value 

   At 31 December 2001 213 –    27 240 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
   At 31 December 2000 232 –    36 268 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 

 
Company  

Licence 
fee 

$’000 

Deferred 
expenditure 

$’000 

 
Total 

$’000 

 Cost 

   Balance at beginning and 
   end of year  291 231 522 
   _______ _______ _______ 

 Accumulated amortisation 

   Balance at beginning of year  59 231 290 
   Charge for the year  19 –    19 
   _______ _______ _______ 

   Balance at end of year  78 231 309 
   _______ _______ _______ 

 Charge for 2000  20 231 251 
   _______ _______ _______ 

 Net book value 

   At 31 December 2001  213 –    213 
   ====== ====== ====== 
   At 31 December 2000  232 –    232 
   ====== ====== ====== 
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10. Fixed assets under construction 
 

  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Balance at beginning of year   61 –    

 Additions   1,059 967 

 Transferred to fixed assets on completion (Note 11)*  (1,120) (906) 
    _______ _______ 

 Balance at end of year   –    61 
    ======= ======= 
 
 These comprise of rental pallet under construction and are not subject to depreciation charge. 
 

* These assets are transferred to one of the Company’s subsidiary company, Kim Hiap Lee Pte 
Ltd. 
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11. Fixed assets

Office Motor

Plant furniture, vehicles
Leasehold and fittings and and Rental
properties machinery equipment forklifts pallets Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group
Cost

At beginning of year 11,668 18,542 2,281 1,350 1,241 35,082
Transferred from fixed assets
   under Construction (Note 10) – – – – 1,120 1,120
Additions 243 31 183 36 – 493
Disposals – – (1) (80) (14) (95)
Written off – – – – (94) (94)
Currency realignment 58 36 19 5 – 118

At end of year 11,969 18,609 2,482 1,311 2,253 36,624

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year 1,616 5,086 1,403 1,175 229 9,509
Charge for the year 595 1,159 378 65 492 2,689
Disposals – – (1) (80) (8) (89)
Written off – – – – (59) (59)
Currency realignment 13 28 16 5 – 62

At end of year 2,224 6,273 1,796 1,165 654 12,112
Charge for 2000 458 1,107 345 84 205 2,199

Net book value
At 31 December 2001 9,745 12,336 686 146 1,599 24,512
At 31 December 2000 10,052 13,456 878 175 1,012 25,573

Company
Cost

At beginning of year 10,625 18,037 2,046 1,127 172 32,007
Additions 243 26 180 37 – 486
Disposals – – (1) – – (1)
Written off – – – – (94) (94)

At end of year 10,868 18,063 2,225 1,164 78 32,398

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year 1,485 4,728 1,230 961 58 8,462
Charge for the year 574 1,112 350 60 48 2,144
Disposals – – (1) – – (1)
Written off – – – – (59) (59)

At end of year 2,059 5,840 1,579 1,021 47 10,546
Charge for 2000 442 1,072 324 79 41 1,958

Net book value
At 31 December 2001 8,809 12,223 646 143 31 21,852

At 31 December 2000 9,140 13,309 816 166 114 23,545
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11. Fixed assets (cont'd) 
 

(a) Included in plant and machinery, furniture and fittings, motor vehicles and forklifts are assets 
purchased under hire purchase and leasing agreements with total net book value of 
$1,682,000 (2000: $1,924,000) and $1,682,000 (2000: $1,924,000) for the Group and the 
Company respectively (Note 20). 

 
(b) Fixed assets with a net book value of $19,556,000 (2000: $18,766,000) are pledged to 

banks to secure banking facilities for the Group and the Company (Note 21). 
 
(c) The details of the leasehold properties are: - 

 
 

Location Usage Approximate land area Tenure 
 
27 Sungei Kadut Manufacturing and 28,287 sq m 49 years expiring 
Street 1, trading wooden  2025. 
Singapore 729335 pallets and timber 
 related products and 
 administrative office 
 
44 Sungei Kadut Manufacturing technical 35,281 sq m 7 years expiring 
Street 1 wood, timber related  2007. 
Singapore 729349 products and flooring 
 material 
 
Lot PTB 1237, Manufacturing wooden 16,587 sq m 60 years expiring 
Jalan Tun Matahir 1, pallets and timber  2052. 
Industries Area, related products 
Phase 2 
Bandar Tenggara , 
81000 Kulai, Johor, 
Malaysia 
 
No. 4, Jalan Pinang Dormitory for 721 sq m 99 years expiring 
Merah 20, employee  2090. 
Bandar Tenggara, 
81000 Kulai, Johor, 
Malaysia 
 
No. 6, Jalan Pinang Dormitory for 726 sq m 99 years expiring 
Merah 20, employee  2090. 
Bandar Tenggara, 
81000 Kulai, Johor, 
Malaysia 
 
No. 8, Jalan Pinang Dormitory for 753 sq m 99 years expiring 
Merah 20, employee  2090. 
Bandar Tenggara, 
81000 Kulai, Johor, 
Malaysia 

 

40 



LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Notes to Financial Statements - 31 December 2001 
 
 
 
 

 

12. Investment in subsidiary companies 
 

  Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Unquoted share, at cost   2,738 2,738 

 Provision for diminution in value of investments  (224) –    
    _______ _______ 

    2,514 2,738 
    ======= ======= 

 Analysis of provision for diminution: - 

   Balance at beginning of year   –    –    

   Charge to income and expenditure statement  224 –    
    _______ _______ 

   Balance at end of year   224 –    
    ======= ======= 
 
 Details of the subsidiary companies at 31 December 2001 are set out in Note 3. 
 
 
13. Investment in associated company 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

Unquoted shares, at cost 150 150 150 150 

Share of net post-acquisition 
  reserves 686 873 –    –    
 _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 836 1,023 150 150 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 
 
14. Stocks 
 
 Raw materials 659 2,136 525 1,078 

 Work-in-progress 5,605 3,504 5,593 3,492 

 Finished goods 936 1,304 902 951 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  7,200 6,944 7,020 5,521 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
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14. Stocks (cont’d) 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Stocks are stated at cost and 
   after deducting provision 
   for stock obsolescence of: - 
 
 Balance at beginning of year 58 –    58 –    

 Charge to income and 
   expenditure statement 593 58 593 58 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 Balance at end of year 651 58 651 58 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
15. Trade debtors 
 
 Trade debtors are stated after deducting 
   provision for doubtful debts of: - 
 
 Balance at beginning of year 189 127 189 127 

 Charge to income and expenditure 
   statement 167 62 159 62 

 Written off (40) –    (38) –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 Balance at end of year 316 189 310 189 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 Bad debts written off directly 
   to income and expenditure 
   statement 1 –    –    –    
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
16. Amounts due from related companies 
 
 Subsidiary companies - trade –    –    543 643 

  - non-trade –    –    518 483 

 Associated companies - trade 330 859 330 859 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  330 859 1,391 1,985 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 Amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of 

repayment. 
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17. Other debtors 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Prepayments 76 140 76 136 

 Tax recoverable 491 415 629 519 

 Deposits 119 89 89 83 

 Sundries –    45 –    7 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  686 689 794 745 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
18. Amounts due to related companies 
 
 Subsidiary companies - trade –    –    410 935 

 Associated companies - trade 6 –    6 –    

  - non-trade 75 75 75 75 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  81 75 491 1,010 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of 

repayment. 
 
 
19. Other creditors and provision 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Deposits received 221 330 221 330 

 Amounts due to directors 
   of subsidiary companies 17 29 –    –    

 Sundries 405 381 83 101 

 Provision for damages (a) 60 –    60 –    
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  703 740 364 431 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 Amounts due to directors of subsidiary companies are non-trade, unsecured, interest free and have 

no fixed term of repayment. 
 
 Provision for damages related to provision set aside for damages claim by the Company’s customer 

for damaged goods transported using the Company’s pallets. 
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19. Other creditors and provision (cont’d) 
 

(a) Provisions for damages 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Charge for the year and 
   balance at 31 December 
   2001 60 –    60 –    

  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 
20. Lease creditors 
 

 Minimum Lease Payments 
 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Future payments payable for 
   finance leases 

 Within one year 372 384 372 384 

 Within two to five years 1,028 1,439 1,028 1,439 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  1,400 1,823 1,400 1,823 

 Finance charges allocated 
   for future years (137) (264) (137) (264) 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  1,263 1,559 1,263 1,559 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 Current portion 314 299 314 299 

 Non-current portion 949 1,260 949 1,260 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  1,263 1,559 1,263 1,559 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
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20. Lease creditors (cont’d) 
 

 Net Present Value of Lease Payments 
 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Future payments payable for 
   finance leases 

 Within one year 314 299 314 299 

 Within two to five years 949 1,260 949 1,260 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  1,263 1,559 1,263 1,559 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 Current portion 314 299 314 299 

 Non-current portion 949 1,260 949 1,260 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

  1,263 1,559 1,263 1,559 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 Finance leases bear interest at 5.4% (2000: 5.5%) per annum which is also the effective interest rate. 
 

All assets acquired under finance leases are secured.  The net book value of assets acquired under 
finance leases is disclosed in Note 11. 

 
 The finance leases do not contain any escalation clauses and do not provide for contingent rents.  

Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group activities concerning dividends, additional debts 
or entering into other lease agreements. 

 
 
21. Amounts due to bankers 
 

  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Term loans, secured   7,914 7,116 

 Bank overdrafts, secured   678 544 
    _______ _______ 

    8,592 7,660 

 Less : Non-current portion of term loans, secured  (4,002) (5,272) 
    _______ _______ 

    4,590 2,388 
    ====== ====== 
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21. Amounts due to bankers (cont’d) 
 

The term loans are secured by first legal mortgage over leasehold factory buildings and fixed charge 
on plant & machinery (Note 11). 
 
These term loans are repayable over a maximum period of 7 years and bears interest at rates ranging 
3.3% to 6.7% (2000: 3.6% to 6.8%) per annum which are also the effective interest rates. 
 
The bank overdrafts are secured by first legal mortgage over leasehold factory buildings (Note 11) 
and bear interest at rates ranging from 5% to 6.5% (2000: 5% to 7%) per annum which are also the 
effective interest rates. 

 
 
22. Deferred income tax 
 

 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Balance at beginning of year 1,159 827 1,149 817 

 (Write-back) of/provision for 
   deferred income tax (Note 7) (8) 332 –    332 
  _______ _______ _______ _______ 

 Balance at end of year 1,151 1,159 1,149 1,149 
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 The deferred income tax arose mainly as a result of the excess of the net book value over the tax 

written down values of fixed assets. 
 
 
23. Share capital 
 

  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Authorised : 
   Balance at beginning and end of year - 
     500,000,000 (2000: 500,000,000) 
     ordinary shares of $0.10 each   50,000 50,000 
    ====== ====== 
 
 Issued and fully paid-up: 
   Balance at beginning and end of year - 
     200,000,000 (2000: 200,000,000) 
     ordinary shares of $0.10 each   20,000 20,000 
    ====== ====== 
 
 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 

Company.  All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 
 
 

46 



LHT Holdings Limited and Subsidiary Companies 
 
Notes to Financial Statements - 31 December 2001 
 
 
 
 

 

24. Share premium 
 

  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Balance at beginning and end of year   3,293 3,293 
    ====== ====== 
 
 The share premium account may be applied only for the purposes specified in the Companies Act.  

The balance is not available for distribution of dividends except in the form of shares. 
 
 
25. Dividends 
 

  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Proposed a first and final dividend of 2.5% 
   or 0.25 cents (2000: 2.5% or 0.25 cents) 
   per ordinary share, less income tax   378 1,110 
 
 Add : Underprovision of dividend due to 
             change in income tax rate   –    7 
    _______ _______ 

    378 1,117 
    ====== ====== 
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26. Information by segment on Group’s operations

Segment information

The Group’s operating businesses are organised and managed into 2 main operating segments, namely pallet/packaging

and timber related products.  The pallet/packaging segment is mainly engaged in the manufacture and supply of wooden

pallets and cases for the packing of industrial products.  The timber related products segment is mainly engaged in the

trading of raw timber related products.  Other segment relates to pallet rental, commission agent, waste collection agent

and the manufacture and trading of technical wood.

Segment accounting policies are the same as the policies described in Note 2.  Inter-segment sales and transfers are

carried out on arms’ length basis.  Segment assets consist primarily of fixed assets, current assets, intangibles and

exclude investments.  Segment liabilities comprise mainly of operating liabilities and exclude income tax liabilities.

Financial information about business segments is presented as follows :-

Timber Adjustments

Pallet/Packaging Related Products Others and elimination Consolidated

2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers 18,770 25,702 4,851 4,380 1,389 1,473 – – 25,010 31,555

Inter-segment sales 7,043 5,340 2,525 3,215 142 231 (9,710) (8,786) – –

Total revenue 25,813 31,042 7,376 7,595 1,531 1,704 (9,710) (8,786) 25,010 31,555

Segment results (336) 1,019 (302) (29) (3,368) (1,955) – – (4,006) (965)

Unallocated expenses – –

Operating loss – – – – – – – – (4,006) (965)

Other income 22 – 4 – 3,172 2,763 (544) (450) 2,654 2,313

Finance costs, net (17) – (20) – (429) (350) – – (466) (350)

Share of results from associated company 220 290 – – – – – – 220 290

(Loss)/Profit before income tax (1,598) 1,288

Income tax (56) (484)

Minority interest, net of income tax (19) (20)

Net (loss)/profit after income tax (1,673) 784

Segment assets 23,293 23,059 2,672 3,396 15,939 17,133 (2,293) (2,671) 39,611 40,917

Investment in associated company 836 1,023 – – – – – – 836 1,023

Total assets 24,129 24,082 2,672 3,396 15,939 17,133 (2,293) (2,671) 40,447 41,940

Segment liabilities 8,121 8,183 1,209 1,588 7,573 7,163 (1,953) (2,490) 14,950 14,444

Unallocated liabilities – – – – – – – – 1,173 1,177

Total liabilities 8,121 8,183 1,209 1,588 7,573 7,163 (1,953) (2,490) 16,123 15,621

Other segment information

Capital expenditures 239 394 – – 1,392 4,698 (18) (32) 1,613 5,060

Depreciation 987 612 20 15 1,682 1,572 – – 2,689 2,199

Amortisation – 241 – – 28 20  – – 28 261

Non-cash expense/(income) 613 16 – – – – – – 613 16
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26. Information by segment on Group’s operations (cont’d)

Geographical  Segments

The Group’s business segments operate mainly in Singapore and is engaged mainly in manufacturing and trading of wooden

pallets and timber related products.  Others relate to Asian regions and is also engaged mainly in these activities.  Segment

revenue is based on geographical location of the Group’s customers. Segment assets is based on geographical location of

the Group’s assets

Adjustments

Singapore Others and elimination Consolidation

2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sales to external customers 24,917 25,160 93 6,395 – – 25,010 31,555

Inter–segment sales 1,316 2,065 8,394 6,721 (9,710) (8,786) – –

Total revenue 26,233 27,225 8,487 13,116 (9,710) (8,786) 25,010 31,555

Other segment information

Segment assets 38,705 40,231 3,199 3,357 (2,293) (2,671) 39,611 40,917

Investment in associated company 836 1,023 – – – – 836 1,023

Total assets 39,541 41,254 3,199 3,357 (2,293) (2,671) 40,447 41,940

Capital expenditure 1,596 5,078 35 14 (18) (32) 1,613 5,060
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27. Capital commitments 
 

  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

 Amounts committed for future  
   capital expenditure but not provided  
   in the financial statements: - 

   - leasehold properties   –    90 
    ====== ====== 
 
 
28. Operating lease commitments 
 

The Group and the Company lease premises, machinery and equipment under non-cancellable lease 
arrangements.  Future minimum rentals under non-cancellable leases as of 31 December are as 
follows: 
 
  Group and Company 

   
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

   Within 1 year   1,044 1,129 

   Within 2 to 5 years   3,521 3,375 

   More than 5 years   5,337 5,455 
    _______ _______ 

    9,902 9,959 
    ====== ====== 
 
 Rental expense (principally for premises, machinery and equipment) was $1,270,000 and $818,000 for 

the years ended 31 December 2001 and 2000 respectively. 
 
 The above operating leases do not contain any escalation clauses and do not provide for contingent 

rents.  Lease terms do not contain restrictions on Group activities concerning dividends, additional 
debt or entering into other leasing agreement.  Certain leases include renewal options for additional 
lease periods of 20 years and at rental rates based on prevailing market rates. 
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29. Significant related party transactions 
 

Significant transactions are entered with related parties and the effect of these transactions on the 
basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements: - 
 
 
 Group Company 

 
2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

2001 

$’000 

2000 

$’000 

Subsidiary companies 

  Trade sales –    –    (1,139) (1,314) 
  Trade purchases –    –    7,163 7,472 
  Trade commissions –    –    142 167 
  Office charges –    –    (88) (11) 
  Management fee received –    –    (5) (10)  
  Interest income –    –    (15) –    

Associated companies 

  Trade sales  (2,127) (4,649) (2,127) (4,649) 
  Trade purchases –    971 –    –    
  Retainer fees received (108) (90) (108) (90) 
  Trade commission 6 –    6 –    
  ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 
 Other transactions with related parties are disclosed in Notes 6, 16, 18 and 19. 
 
 
30. Interested person transactions 
 
 In compliance with Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual (“the Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited, there were no transactions with interested persons (as defined in the 
Manual) for the financial year ended 31 December 2001 that exceeded the stipulated threshold.  
Therefore, no shareholders’ mandate was necessary. 

 
 
31. Financial Instruments 
 

(a) Financial Risk Management 
 
 The Group’s and the Company’s activities are affected by various financial risks, including the 

effects of changes in market prices of equities, foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates as described in the ensuing paragraphs: 

 
 The main risks arising from the Company’s and Group’s financial instruments are interest rate 

risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.  The policies for managing each of 
these risks are summarised below. 
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31. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 

(a) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 
 

(i) Interest rate risk 
 
 The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates arises mainly from the 

Group’s bank borrowings, lease commitments and cash deposits placed with 
financial institutions.  For interest income from the cash deposits, the Group 
managed the interest rate risks by placing cash deposits with reputable financial 
institutions on varying maturities and interest rate terms.  For interest expenses on 
the Group’s borrowings, the Group mitigates its interest exposure by fixing interest 
rates over longer duration through long-term borrowings. 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 
 The Group’s financing activities are managed centrally by maintaining an adequate 

level of cash and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations.  Long-term 
borrowing is a preferred source of financing to ensure continuity of funding.  The 
Group also ensures availability of bank credit lines to address any short-term funding 
requirement. 

 
 The Group’s surplus funds are also managed centrally by placing them with 

reputable financial institutions. 
 
(iii) Credit risk 
 
 Credit risk arises mainly from the risk that counterparties defaulting on the terms of 

their agreements.  The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade debtors, 
other debtors and other investments represent the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk in relation to financial assets. 

 
 The Group monitors the exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis and credit 

evaluations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.  
Cash terms, advance payments, or letters of credit are required for customers of 
lower credit standing.  The credit risk on balances of cash and cash equivalents is 
low as these balances are placed with reputable financial institutions. 

 
(iv) Foreign currency risk 
 
 The Group manages its foreign currency exchange risk by matching the resulting 

cash flows from its sales and purchases of goods, primarily in US dollars without 
hedging its risk by using forward exchange contract.  As at the balance sheet date, 
the Group’s net currency exposures are insignificant. 
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31. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
(b) Fair value of financial instruments 
 
 The followings methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of 

financial instruments: 
 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, short term bank borrowings, trade and other debtors, 
and trade and other creditors 

 
 The fair values of these financial instruments (including related companies balances 

which are expected to be repaid in accordance with normal cash terms) approximate 
their carrying amounts at the balance sheet date because of their short-term 
maturity. 

 
(ii) Related party balances 
 
 No disclosure of fair value is made for related party balances (including associated, 

related and subsidiary companies and any other related parties) which are in the 
nature of loans as it is not practicable to determine their fair values with sufficient 
reliability since these balances have no fixed terms of repayment although these are 
not expected to be settled within twelve months from the balance sheet date. 

 
(iii) Lease creditors 
 
 The fair value of the lease creditors is determined by discounting the relevant cash 

flow using current interest rates for similar instruments at balance sheet date. 
 
 There are no significant differences between the fair values and the carrying 

amounts of the lease creditors. 
 
(iv) Long-term bank borrowings 
 
 The fair value of the long term bank borrowings is determined by discounting the 

relevant cash flow using current interest rates for similar instruments at balance 
sheet date. 

 
 
32. Comparative figures 
 
 Due to the adoption of new SASs and the changes in accounting policies during the current year as 

mentioned in Note 2(b) to the financial statements, the presentation of the income and expenditure 
statements, balance sheets and certain supporting notes have been revised to comply with the new 
requirements.  Accordingly, certain figures relating to the previous year have been reclassified to 
conform with the presentation in the current year. 
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 18 APRIL 2002

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION AS AT 18 APRIL 2002
Authorised Share Capital : $50,000,000
Issued & Fully-Paid Capital : $20,000,000
Class of Shares : Ordinary Share of $0.10 each
Voting Right : One vote per share

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 18 APRIL 2002
as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

No. of shares of $0.10 Each Fully Paid

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Neo Koon Boo 45,435,590 22.72 82,581,450* 41.29
Tan Kim Sing 38,476,820 19. 24 89,540,220* 44.77
Yap Mui Kee 22,124,130 11.06 105,892,910* 52.95
Ng  E Teck 21,915,500 10.96 106,101,540* 53.05

Note:
(a) The deemed interest of Mr Neo Koon Boo, Mr Tan Kim Sing, Ms Yap Mui Kee and Mr. Ng E Teck arise from the Management

Shareholders’ Agreement (as referred to in footnote (1) on page 16 of the Prospectus). Details of the Management Shareholders
Agreement are set out on page 18 of the Prospectus.

*65,000 shares held by spouse of Mr. Tan Kim Sing, Mdm Ng Siew Yeng

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 18TH APRIL 2002

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No.of Shares %

1 - 1,000 3,597 51.28 3,597,000 1.80
1,001 - 10,000 2,557 36.46 14,757,000 7.38

10,001 - 1,000,000 847 12.08 32,212,000 16.10
1,000,001 and above 13 0.18 149,434,000 74.72
TOTAL: 7,014 100.00 200,000,000 100.00
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name No.of Shares %
1. Neo Koon Boo 45,435,590 22.72
2. Tan Kim Sing 38,476,820 19.24
3. Yap Mui Kee 22,124,130 11.06
4. Ng E Teck 21,915,500 10.96
5. Lee Jim Boon 5,067,690 2.53
6. Yeo Boon Chan 4,426,160 2.21
7. Seiko Co. Ltd 4,008,950 2.00
8. Lim Kwee Poh 1,606,000 0.80
9. Leong Hwei Min 1,510,000 0.76
10. Leong Kwong Joon 1,505,000 0.75
11. Leong Kwong Chee 1,307,160 0.65
12. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 1,044,000 0.52
13. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 1,007,000 0.50
14. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 812,000 0.41
15. Lau Koi Fong @ Lau Thim Thai 610,000 0.31
16. Wong Kuat Kong 602,000 0.30
17. Kim Eng Ong Asia Securities Pte Ltd 594,000 0.30
18. Oversea-Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 562,000 0.28
19. Yap Kin Lock 320,000 0.16
20. Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 300,000 0.15

TOTAL : 153,234,000 76.61

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 18 APRIL 2002
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of LHT Holdings Limited (“the Company”) will be held at 27
Sungei Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 on Wednesday, 29 May 2002 at 3.30 p.m for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2001
together with the Auditors’ Report. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect Mr Low Peng Kit, retiring pursuant to Article 104 of the Company’s Articles of Association. (Resolution 2)

Mr Low Peng Kit is non-executive Director and will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of
the Audit Committee and will be considered independent for the purposes of Clause 902(4)(a) of the Listing Manual of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$102,000 for the year ended 31 December 2001  (2000: S$102,000).
(Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
(Resolution 4)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

6. Authority to allot and issue shares up to 50 per centum (50%) of issued capital

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Clause 941(3)(b) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to allot and issue shares in the Company
at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion,
deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares to be allotted and issued  pursuant to this Resolution shall not
exceed Fifty per centum (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being and that such authority shall,
unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the Company’s next
Annual General Meeting. [See Explanatory Note (i)]  (Resolution 5)

7 (a) Approval of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Persons Transactions

That approval be and is hereby given for the purposes of Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, for the Company, its subsidiaries and target associated companies or any of them to enter into
any of the transactions falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions particulars of which are set out on pages
36 of the Company’s Prospectus dated 15 July 1999. (“Prospectus”) with the Interested Persons described in the Prospectus
and that such approval shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting. [See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 6)

56  LHT HOLDINGS LIMITED/annual report 2001



7 (b) Authority to Directors to give effect to Resolution 6

That authority be given to the Directors to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents
as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to Resolution 6 above as they may
think fit. [See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 7)

By Order of the Board

William Tan Tew Hian
Secretary
Singapore,  13 May 2002

EXPLANATORY NOTES:

(i) The Ordinary Resolution 5 proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above
Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue shares in the Company.  The number of
shares which the Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution would not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being.  For issues of shares other than on a pro rata basis to all shareholders,
the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the existing issued share capital
of the Company.

(ii) The Ordinary Resolution 6 proposed in item 7(a) above, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions as
described in the Prospectus and recurring in the year.  This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the
Company at a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(iii) The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7(b) above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the
date of the above meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to do all acts necessary to give effect
to the ordinary resolution proposed in item 7(a) above.

NOTES:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies (not more
than two) to attend and vote on his/her behalf. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2. If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or
attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 27 Sungei
Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 at least 48 hours before the time for holding the Annual General Meeting.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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I/We, _______________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Name)

of ________________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

being a member/members of LHT HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Number Shareholdings (%)

and /or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Number Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting
of the Company to be held on 29 May 2002 at 3.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  The proxy is to vote on the business before
the meeting as indicated below.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her
discretion, as he/she will on any other matter arising at the Meeting:

NO. RESOLUTIONS RELATING TO: FOR AGAINST

1 Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2001

2 Re-election of Mr. Low Peng Kit as a Director

3 Approval of payment of Directors’ Fees of  S$102,000.00

4 Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors

5 Authority to allot and issue new shares

6 Approval of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

7 Authority to Directors to give effect to Resolution 6

(Please indicate with a cross [X] in the space provided whether you wish your vote to be cast for or against the Resolutions as set out
in the Notice of the Meeting.)

Dated this _______________ day of ______________ 2002

______________________________________
Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to

buy LHT shares, the Annual Report is forwarded to
them at the request of their CPF Approved
Nominees and is sent solely FOR  INFORMATION
ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors
and shall be ineffective for all intents and purpose
if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF Investors who wish to vote should contact their
CPF Approved Nominees

LHT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF SINGAPORE)

PROXY FORM
(PLEASE SEE NOTES OVERLEAF BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM)

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES IN: NO. OF SHARES

(a)  CDP Register

(b)  Register of Members

�



NOTES :

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of
Shares.  If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.
If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and
registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies
shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two
proxies to attend and vote instead of him.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his
shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at   27 Sungei
Kadut Street 1, Singapore 729335 at least 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised
in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either
under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company
may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General
Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



27 Sungei Kadut Street 1
Singapore 729335
Tel: (65) 6269 7890  Fax: (65) 6367 4907
website: http://www.lht.com.sg
              http://www.greenflo.com
email: enquiry@lht.com.sg
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